
Date Published:12 January 2021     

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 20 January 2021 at 1.30 pm

Please note that this meeting will be held remotely and can be
viewed on the County Council website at
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies. 

Chair

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Chair

3  MINUTES 

To confirm the minutes of the last meeting on 18 November 2020.

TO FOLLOW

Chair

4  WORK PLAN (Pages 1 - 2)

To review the committee work plan for March 2020.

Chair

5  DISTRICT MEMBER FEEDBACK 

District representatives on the Committee are encouraged to use this 
standing item to feedback on key economic growth points/issues/actions 
from their respective councils.

All

6  GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE 
UPDATE 

To receive a verbal update on the GEGJC meeting held earlier the same
day from the Chair, Cllr Patrick Molyneux.

Cllr Patrick 
Molyneux



    

Please refer to the published forward plan of the GEGJC to suggest any
items you may want to consider at a future meeting of the Scrutiny 
Committee.

Scrutiny members are invited to attend the GEGJC meeting in an observer
capacity. Please refer to the following link to view the agenda and
supporting documents for the GEGJC meeting:

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g10195/Public%20repor
ts%20pack%20Wednesday%2020-Jan-
2021%2010.00%20Gloucestershire%20Economic%20Growth%20Joint%2
0Committee.pdf?T=10

7  SOCIAL MOBILITY (Pages 3 - 22)

To receive a verbal update on the social mobility group work and a 
presentation from the Power of 3 initiative.

Jon McGinty

Dawn Adams

8  LOCAL HOUSING (Pages 23 - 32)

To note an update report on the strategic and local plans in the County. 
The same report has been presented to the Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Committee at its last meeting.

Mike Dawson

9  TAXI LICENSING TASK GROUP REPORT (Pages 33 - 44)

To receive a verbal update on the work of the Taxi Licensing task group. A 
copy of the group’s final report is attached for the Committees 
consideration.

Cllr Kate Haigh

10  GOVERNANCE OF THE LEP (Pages 45 - 46) David Owen

INFORMATION ITEMS

11  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT (Pages 47 - 54)

To note an update report from Colin Chick, Executive Director of  
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure on Economic Growth issues in the 
County.

Colin Chick

12  FUTURE MEETINGS 

The final meeting of this Committee is on 10 March 2021.

9 June 2021
15 September 2021
20 October 2021
17 November 2021

All

Membership –  Cllr Brian Robinson, Cllr Matt Babbage, Cllr Kevin Cromwell (Chair), 

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g10195/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2020-Jan-2021%2010.00%20Gloucestershire%20Economic%20Growth%20Joint%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g10195/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2020-Jan-2021%2010.00%20Gloucestershire%20Economic%20Growth%20Joint%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g10195/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2020-Jan-2021%2010.00%20Gloucestershire%20Economic%20Growth%20Joint%20Committee.pdf?T=10
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g10195/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2020-Jan-2021%2010.00%20Gloucestershire%20Economic%20Growth%20Joint%20Committee.pdf?T=10


    

Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr Ben Evans, Cllr Kate Haigh (Vice-Chair), Cllr Klara Sudbury, 
Cllr Sajid Patel and Cllr Patrick Molyneux Cllr Nicky Packer, Cllr Paul McCloskey, Cllr John Murphy, 
Cllr Gina Blomefield and Cllr Simon Pickering

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Acting Monitoring 
Officer, (Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior 
to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/ e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d)

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2021

20 January 2021 10 March 2021
Final meeting of this Council

Local housing update Modern Methods of Housing 
Construction (2) – Manufacturers 

Social mobility Skills agenda

Taxi Licensing Task Group report

GFirst LEP Item
Governance

GFirst LEP Item
Review of Growth Hub Service

POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS

1 Future of the high street post-Covid 3 Carbon neutral transport

2 Covid impact on employment and businesses in 
the County

4 Impact of potential future lockdowns or 
pandemics on the economy

P
age 1

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Matson, Robinswood and 
White City Community Partnership

The Power of Three: 2020-2024
A plan for the Matson, Robinswood and White City communities

August 2020

Citizenship, resilience, economic development and sustainability

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 7



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 2

Introduction

The Power of Three
Over the last five years the Power of Three project, run by the 
Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership, has 
worked together to tackle the negative images of the ward, which 
is often defined by official statistics in statutory circles. Events have 
been held to draw in the arts to tell stories and boost confidence, 
ask questions and suggest solutions. Other events have been held 
to provide entertainment, social gatherings and opportunities 
for local leaders to apply their skills and be recognised for their 
successes. 

The well-established civil sector of community groups, initiatives, centres and small charities 
have continued to bloom, winning grants, delivering small grants, supporting individuals, 
families and statutory services and agencies to engage more effectively. Day in and day out 
our community organisations are having sustained conversations based on relationships which 
reveal and uncover issues, circumstances, potential and success, which goes unnoticed more 
broadly and unrecorded and analysed. It is on the back of this work, that the ward has been 
able to respond effectively to Covid-19 through food programmes, listening ears and provision 
of resources.

It is through Power of Three that we the Partnership have realised that we have a role to play 
in a broader sense by confidently positioning the Partnership to co-create not just within the 
ward but also with the many statutory organisations, especially those impacted by the need to 
address marginalisation and pockets of deprivation. 

An invitation to participate 
The Community Partnership believes that we can continue to achieve much ourselves within 
the ward and that agencies and authorities can continue to meet their statutory obligations, 
but the possibilities for dynamic change are enhanced by bringing together top down and 
bottom up approaches as laid out in this plan, so over the next year we will be reaching 
out to you. We look forward to holding important conversations with the local authorities, 
the enterprise drivers, the educators, the commissioners of services, decisions makers and 
influencers, and of course the residents, to discuss how together we might deliver a plan that 
will better deploy resources, build up talent, raise reputation and lay down new opportunities. 

By meeting and talking about shared goals from above and below, the Partnership believes 
that not only can we discern good practice, we can also provide stronger bottom up direction, 
which will reduce consultation overload, confusion and disengagement. Common ground will 
lead to change not just of perspective but also of practice and outcomes.

  

Bob Allen 
Chair of the Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership

P
age 4



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 3

In 2015 the Power of Three partnership rallied around an opportunity to collaborate on an 
exercise that ultimately delivered a community economic development plan. A review of the 
plan in 2019 identified successes, including challenging the negative opinions about the ward, 
as well as complications, such as the lack of formal well-recognised schemes for youth work 
and volunteering. 

From the review it was clear that having a common initiative was a positive approach for all 
those interested in the ward and prepared to offer leadership; whether as individual residents, 
managers in community organisations, or as workers representing larger organisations. 

This document is the Matson, Robinswood and White City Power of Three in its second phase, 
which is both a continuation of the first exercise and an innovation towards being more 
strategic and confidently engaged with the structures that hold power, as well with the key 
issues of Britain in the 2020s.

The top priorities of the first phase remain: reputation, leadership, transport, flexible care, 
community assets, housing, education and skills, and local businesses; but rather than seeing 
them as distinct issues to be tackled just from within the ward, the revised plan sees them as 
part of a richer tapestry of concerns that are on the agenda of the local authorities, the Health 
Commissioners, the Local Economic Partnership, elected officials, the University, social housing 
providers, providers of primary, secondary and tertiary education.

This plan has six purposes:

1   To lay out the Partnership’s fresh understanding of the ward’s economic, environmental, 
social and development potential;

2   To clarify how the Partnership understands the context and construction of the 
opportunities and challenges;

3   To place the micro-local ward concerns over adult skills and economic participation, 
climate change and funding 2050 development, renewal of the built environment, 
social imbalance, democratic participation and accountable leadership, and educational 
attainment up to 21; alongside the strengths, weakness, opportunities and threats 
identified by the public authorities;

4   To state what the Partnership can do through collaborative working based on the 
resources of its individual and organisational participants;

5   To set out opportunities for regional, county and city entities to be partners in change by 
supporting small and large tasks whose results would drive forward a valued project;

6   To invite you, as a local resident, employer, service provider, activist, or as an organisation 
to support people to meet their aspirations for better health, economic and educational 
opportunity and to encourage and promote positive solutions around climate change and 
participation in democracy.

Adult skills and economic 
participation

Climate change and funding 
2050 development

Renewal of the built 
environment

Social imbalance Democratic participation and 
accountable leadership 

Educational attainment up 
to age 21 

P
age 5



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 4

Adult skills and economic participation

The issues
The educational platform of the ward, despite many individuals doing well, remains weak. For 
example, the average Gloucester city resident has two A-levels. Within the neighbourhoods 
of Matson, Robinswood and White City, another seven residents would have to gain these 
qualifications for every 10 that already have to catch up with the city average. 

The impact of qualification barriers shows up in the occupation statistics.

41% of the citizens in work in these areas have roles that are likely to require 
only a basic general education (Office of National Statistics groups 7, 8 and 9, 
as set for the 2011 census). This is one in four of all the adult citizens. 

Progress can be seen in employment statistics but the ward’s relative unemployment position 
within the city has not improved in the last decade.

The projected decline of retail within the British economy is a clear threat as:

1  A significant proportion of the ward’s working population are engaged in shop work; and

2  There will be reduced early work opportunities for the ward’s young people. 

If retail is replaced by warehouse occupations this could mean increased travel requirements to 
reach the new sites outside the city.

The county economic strategy for Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury is heavily focused 
on aerospace, IT and similar sectors, meaning engagement for these areas is complex when 
the ward’s working population is overwhelmingly in sectors that require less educational 
achievement and personal autonomy.

Citizens from these neighbourhoods can succeed but we are trying to counterbalance 
a lifetime of discouragement – we want to encourage people that they can.

The solution?

A neighbourhood curriculum to  
advance adult employment

What do we need?
1   A contracting regime from public authorities, quangos and other employers that 

encourages opportunities for local citizens’ employment within regeneration 
schemes and ongoing employment.

2   A plan to upskill workers which recognises they work long hours outside of 
the district with limited contact with the key industries identified by the public 
authorities.

3   A pro-local employment ethos and development plan especially around 
regeneration, green economy, care and wellbeing roles, that informs, prepares, 
nurtures and sustains participation, and reward. 

P
age 6



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 5

What can we do for ourselves?
-  Keep the ward informed about economic trends and plans that might affect their 

household planning. 

-  Build a cooperative ladder of opportunity that enables skill development and produces 
ward-level community change derived from the wards assets including:

 a) The proposed Winnycroft greenspaces 

 b) The historic fishpond (Matson Park)

 c) Childcare 

 d) Social care

-  Support care workers from within the ward to offer services to residents within the 
nearby Gloucester suburbs. 

-  Encourage GFirst LEP and their Employment and Skills Board to communicate and interact 
with the ward’s citizens more effectively regarding the opportunities of the new industrial 
projections and pathways to benefit.

Our local story
The GEM Project supports people dealing with circumstances causing barriers to work and 
helps move them closer towards education, training, volunteering or work. Since it started 
in 2017 the GEM Project has helped over 80 people from Matson, Robinswood and White 
City on their employment journeys. The GEM Project is jointly funded by the National Lottery 
Community Fund and the European Social Fund.

Work clubs also exist within the wards to plug some of the holes left by commissioned 
services, but also focus on unemployed citizens, and are not able to help workers on long 
hours, weak wages and on long commutes move on in their employment. 

Interesting practice elsewhere
Power to Change (an organisation which works with community businesses to revive local 
assets) say: “Dedicated community business champions rooted in deprived communities can 
enable social action and encourage community business solutions. They can help identify 
how social capital deficits inhibit social action and collective responses to social and economic 
challenges. 

Locating mentors within deprived places who can build skills that bridge connections between 
groups within a community and build localised networks which bring together community, 
private and public sector anchor organisations in place, will be critical.”

P
age 7



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 6

The issues
As observable through the limited fitting of solar panels the ward has benefitted only 
marginally from the 2009-2019 green energy feed-in tariff regime. 

Neither Gloucester City Homes (Gloucester’s major social landlord) nor public space buildings 
were able to make the scheme work.

A lack of individual household capital and the primacy of public housing may well continue 
to prohibit the ward benefiting from the government Feed-In Tariffs (FIT) scheme, which 
was designed to promote the uptake of renewable and low-carbon electricity generation 
technologies. Communal action may be the best route to prepare for 2050 carbon neutrality.

Preparing the public and private housing stock from the 1950’s onwards for 2050 Carbon 
neutrality will be a major financial undertaking. Community Municipal Bonds, regulated by the 
FCA, could be an option to move this forward. 

In addition, only 2% of the ward’s working adults have jobs in the ward, 50% leave the city 
for work which drives pollution. Much of the work is built around driving and electric cars will 
need recharge points for renters.

80% of the jobs within the ward, mostly higher paid, public sector roles, are filled by 
commuters. This drives pollution and immediately extracts public investment out of the 
community.

The ward cannot provide primary school places for the current and projected population, 
which creates more traffic as children are driven out of the ward. This excludes families 
without transport from educational choices and produces pollution.

Climate change and funding 2050 development

•  West Berkshire has cabinet approval to pilot a Climate 
Emergency Bond through Abundance, a crowdsourcing 
investment company.

•  Four other authorities including a major UK city are in the 
process of signing off piloting a bond.

•  A collaboration between the ward, district and county 
could investigate this approach.

The solution? 

Climate compatible living and economics

What do we need?
1    An approach to 2050 carbon neutrality that aligns many of the different social, 

economic and community issues with the environment. 

2    Recruitment of local people and the creation of pathways to local jobs, by building 
relationships with businesses in and close to the ward. 

P
age 8



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 7

What can we do for ourselves?
-  Understand ultra-local energy alternatives and prepare for 2050 carbon neutrality 

schemes by investigating heat recovery from drains, ground source heat pumps and 
the replacement FIT programme that can co-depend with the landscape and built 
environment.

-  Develop the ward’s residents’ understanding of carbon neutrality and their lifestyles and 
work – such as changes to home heating, transport arrangements, vehicle charging and 
co-operative community energy.

- Develop a climate-living opportunity that produces local economic stability.

- Improve our ultra-local governance structure so that it can:

 1     Voice local perspectives and propose solutions to the challenges of 2050 without 
worsening social and economic marginalisation; and

 2     Function as a peer to other public schemes and authorities.

Our local story
The development of recreation and sports facilities in Blackbridge and White City will add 
economic focus, create local jobs and support the health and wellbeing of local people 
without the need to get in a car. As part of this, The Venture - White City’s backbone 
community group - have been working alongside the White City Community and Recreation 
CIO to develop proposals for a new Community and Recreation Centre that is at the cutting 
edge of sustainable, carbon-neutral design. The project is oven ready for fundraising, 
supported by its neighbours, will raise local pride and be a flagship example of good practice. 

Interesting practice elsewhere
Bere Regis Urban Parish Council in Dorset raised £860,000 via crowdsourcing in 2013 to 
fund an inland windmill to produce green energy. The windmill profit arrangement has since 
supported a number of local schemes including a skate park, a neighbour car taxi service, and 
pathways to make the surrounding countryside more accessible.P

age 9



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 8

Renewal of the built environment

The issues
The regeneration conversation is dominated by a focus on housing but struggling with a lack 
of meaningful investment and debates over land transfers.

A holistic conversation about regeneration needs to recognise:

1    The economic and wellbeing impact of poor housing - for example, the poor state of 
housing meant the previous Power of Three plan for a co-operative of home-based 
childcare was rejected as the housing would not meet Ofsted standards.

2    The ageing state of public, voluntary or church buildings – “the social safety net of 
the ward” - will not be ready for 2050 carbon neutrality nor able to withstand climate 
change. Moat School was 60 years old in 2019.

3    Research suggests that partnership is the key to successful regeneration and provision of 
homes. 

University College London (UCL) and the Royal Town Planning 
Institute (RTPI) in 2019 found that: “57% of councils overall had 
some form of joint venture that included housing. Our research 
shows numerous councils engaging in what they described as a 
‘partnership’ working with other bodies.” 

The solution? 

A widely supported approach to the 
ward’s built environment

What do we need?
1    Regeneration that has a pro-local employment ethos that nurtures and sustains 

skills and talents. It will last three decades and must launch local people’s 
economic potential.

2    The ward’s citizens need a number of strong, acknowledged and accountable 
voices contributing to regeneration policy and progress, rather than be recipients 
through consultation processes.

3    Conduct a joint investigation - the Financing for Society project within the 
University of Leeds and the Government’s Inclusive Economy Unit are worthy of 
further examination.

P
age 10



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 9

What can we do for ourselves?
- Investigate the potential of:

 1     Community land trusts as a vehicle to hold and sponsor regeneration. 

 2     Crowdsourced funding programs for alternative energy funding and schemes to 
rebuild and expand schools to meet the needs within the ward.

-  Encourage good practice and strategy for a holistic, ward positive regeneration 
programme that covers private, social, and public spaces.

-  Investigate alternative routes for small projects; Liverpool Community Homes and the 
social housing developer Octevo have launched three crowdsourcing programmes under 
FCA regulation.

Our local story
The Power of Three plan 2016-2019, developed through a central government grant, was one 
of the four key documents used by Gloucester City Homes to leverage a package of funding to 
discuss regeneration of the Matson social housing stock.

When the Partnership worked on the first Power of Three plan in 2015-2016, important ideas 
about the nature of the local economy were discussed with local people at open evenings and 
a day consultation. The ideas about seeing the economy as a leaky bucket shaped perception 
of what was needed out of the regeneration process: opportunities for direct employment in 
the projects, skill acquisition and self-employment providing services to the project workers. 

Interesting practice elsewhere
The Liverpool Housing Association Onward and charity Housing People Building Communities 
have delivered a £2.2 million house building scheme based on ‘sweat-equity’ that converted 
10,000 hours of peoples labour into a 10% deposit on new homes.

The ability to build high quality social homes and added capacity to produce low-carbon, high-
quality social homes has demonstrated that community finance helps drive change in business 
practice as well as deliver individual projects. 

P
age 11



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 10

Social imbalance

The issues
The long-term impacts of poverty in the recreation of social and economic exclusion in the 
next generation are well understood and informed the county council’s approach to children’s 
centres in the 2010s. In addition, the links between poor housing and health outcomes, area 
reputation and lack of opportunities, and the capacity of individuals to build social capital are 
understood.

Yet tackling ill-health and economic isolation are handled by different agencies, divergent 
professional outlooks and separate strategies.

Our ward has long-term cycles and circumstances, that are revealed by proportionally more 
children, more older people and more people in ill-health.

The ward is also home to individuals, families and households that are holding their own in 
good economic times. 

The community response to enduring social imbalance is based around social action through 
centres and programmes around alleviating poverty, creating experience, opening horizons 
challenging behaviour, negotiating systems and taking part. These groups are vital to people 
and local authorities as a means of communication and delivery and a full list can be seen at 
the end of this document.

The solution? 

A wellbeing and social inclusion economic 
concept

What do we need?
An economic approach and strategy that is social in nature, and a socio-health 
approach and strategy built around positive spirals of economic expansion. Both 
supported by education that builds social capital and economic strength. 

In practice this could be achieved by:

1   County level commissioning of services that promotes retention of public money 
earmarked for the ward within the ward. The managerial and bureaucratic and 
professional costs of commissioned services invariably exit the ward immediately.

2     Authority insight that enables ward assets to tackle ward deficits. The large 
proportion of ward workers engaged in care work, a key county economic sector 
has barely been noticed. These workers could be given opportunities to flourish 
and deliver co-operatively a local approach to care demands.

P
age 12



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 11

What can we do for ourselves?
-  Drive, support and sustain the community food cupboard initiatives, and at the same time 

better understand the users and the drivers of need, the costs and benefits, and how we 
reduce the need in the longer-term.

-  Identify a facility, whether government, religious or voluntary sector, that can be adapted 
to provide extensive childcare for the ward and enable economic participation by its 
citizens.

-  Clearly and collectively identify the wide range of local skills and community assets 
that are available to be engaged by public bodies that want to invest in sustainable 
improvement in the ward.

Our local story
During 2016 and 2017 a group of local women took part in training to enable them to 
become qualified home-based childminders.

They gained new qualifications and skills but their poor-quality homes could not pass an 
Ofsted inspection so the plans for a co-operative child care offering to the community were 
unable to progress.

In a more successful story, during 2018 and 2019 the Wellbeing Project, built on the local 
offering, resolved issues around locally-placed vulnerable adults in supported living and 
the community achieved major changes for individuals. A positive independent evaluation 
highlighted important learning.

Interesting practice elsewhere
Poplar HARCA, a housing and regeneration association as a member of Placeshapers takes a 
proactive, hands on role on addressing social imbalance. This involves generating data on local 
poverty, working with partners to tackle it, taking direct action on economic regeneration in 
addition to house building and lobbies with other organisations on policy initiatives. They build 
social capital with a young person’s board supporting the association’s decision making. 

0

25

50

75

100

125

150

175

200

225

250

275

300

– Matson and Robinswood 1 

– Matson and Robinswood 4 

– Matson and Robinswood 6 

– Abbeydale

– Matson and Robinswood 2 

– Matson and Robinswood 5 (White City)

– Matson and Robinswood 7 (Robinswood) 

The gap: Gloucestershire county ranking of 
Indices of Multiple Deprivation 

Using government figures this graph tracks the comparative deprivation rankings of the different parts of Matson, 
Robinswood and White City within Gloucestershire over the last 10 years. 1 = most deprived and 373 = least deprived 
as there are 373 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOA’s) in Gloucestershire each with an average of 1500 residents living in 
them. For comparison, Abbeydale 1 is shown, which is situated next to Matson.

2010 2015 2019

P
age 13



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 12

Democratic participation and accountable leadership

The issues
The big debate about the shape and future of democracy in societies like Britain has meaning 
and importance at micro-level of society for a ward like Matson and Robinswood.

Election participation is down whether measured by voters, party membership or campaigning. 
The desire to be heard can be registered from online forums but not in formal exercises of 
consultations called by authorities or quangos. Across the city there has been a disinterest or 
an inability to effectively engage with the Neighbourhood Planning Process, which enables 
residents to shape and develop their local area. 

The local authorities recognise the need for community leadership in the suburbs and our local 
plan, and the UK government policy of localism has created frameworks and initiatives for 
micro-communities to have a greater influence over their areas.

The ward leadership made up of local residents, with civic, community and voluntary sector 
participation with a 20 year heritage lacks the ability to influence and be automatically 
included in formal structures. 

The solution? 

Democratic and recognised structures

What do we need?
1    Support is needed from city and county councils to advise and implement the most 

effective models for local community decision making and integration into wider 
systems, so that the local leadership can more effectively develop.

2    There needs to be an understanding of our local plan amongst decision makers 
and senior staff of public bodies.

3    Recognition that long-term plans delivered over decades need to be owned within 
the ward rather than delivered top down by non-resident authorities.

4    Local people being developed is the key to meeting the needs of public bodies for 
more residents influencing, governing and delivering the city and county agendas. 
We want to help local people to be in control of their neighbourhoods and 
support them to do so.

P
age 14



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 13

What can we do for ourselves?
-  Develop a model of ultra-local leadership with increased democratic accountability and 

participation that meets the needs of residents and the local authority.

-  Build confidence in the concept of a purposeful ultra-local council that has official 
recognition and standing within civil structures, such as an urban parish council or 
neighbourhood council.

- Prepare to adopt responsibility for the Winnycroft greenspaces and community facilities. 

-  Investigate the appropriateness and potential remit of an elected community council for 
the ward, in line with practice elsewhere.

Our local story
The Matson, Robinswood and White City partnership has brought together local residents, 
elected officials, managers of in-ward voluntary and community sector organisations and key 
staff for over 20 years to understand and address the local issues, co-ordinate activity, and 
discuss the local trends.

The offering around play and youth work made by local organisations including The Venture: 
White City, The Redwell Centre and local schools includes important work on leadership and 
community responsibility through semi-formal work like the creation of Junior Wardens, as 
well as a focus in youth work on personal accountability.

The strength of the local networks between partners has helped them connect their support, 
build on each other’s strengths and generate new opportunities in every aspect of community 
life. Holiday programmes are promoted together so families have a choice of options, external 
decision makers can be held to account at the partnership, community plans can be created 
from the bottom up and residents know that whatever their passions there are always other 
residents who share their drive for change and improvement. 

The connection of residents, co-operation of partners and caring for our communities 
epitomised by the Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership is what our 
neighbourhood social capital is made from. Our communities are rich in social capital because 
of the longstanding commitment of residents to their neighbours and their community 
organisations.

Interesting practice elsewhere
The House of Lord’s response to belonging and integration in British society has a number of 
pertinent recommendations including:

-  (Point 49) Local authorities, health bodies and other public agencies bringing the public, 
especially marginalised groups, into decision-making as early as possible, investing in high 
quality consultation processes, providing proper feedback to local communities and using 
the many evidence-based community engagement initiatives; and 

-  (Point 42) communicating with members of the public to encourage more personalised 
communication that directly responds to people’s concerns. It should include telling 
people who they can talk to if they disagree with the response, and who would be 
responsible for changing policy.

P
age 15



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 14

Educational attainment up to age 21

The issues
The disparity in pupil premium rates reported by the ward’s schools and statistical findings 
suggests:

1    A concentration of the ward’s poorest children within the ward’s primary schools. 

2    Schooling choice to educate children outside of the ward is being used by some families.

It has been suggested within academic analyses of poverty and its impact that:

1    Small initial disparities can lead to larger eventual inequalities; 

2    Feedback loops can operate to embed early life circumstances; 

3    Constraints can breed further constraints, and; 

4  Feedback loops can operate over generations. 

This is about adverse childhood experience going on generation after generation.

It is agreed that children from poorer backgrounds have worse educational attainments than 
their better-off peers. The exact dynamic between income itself, parental ability, education, 
and other aspects of the child’s experience is less understood. 

School attainment results across the decade highlight that an important proportion of the 
ward’s young people are completing education significantly disadvantaged to others and 
therefore likely to be economically directed towards work roles within ONS bands 9 – 7 and 
will encounter barriers to achieve roles within bands 7 – 4. 

The solution? 

Bespoke agendas and plans for our wards

What do we need?
1   A regeneration agenda that includes replacing ageing primary school buildings 

and adding capacity to better meet the current and future ward population, and 
with green credentials.

2    An economic strategy from GFirst LEP, in response to the threat of pockets of 
poverty, that develops community social capital and economic knowledge to 
improve young people’s employment awareness and chances. 

3    A renewed and comprehensive early years offering relevant to both families 
stretched by work commitments and those managing adverse childhood 
experiences.

4    Schooling that offers an experience and outcome considered robust by the 
ward’s families and builds social cohesion between both the social and private 
householder and the old and projected housing estates. 

P
age 16



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 15

What can we do for ourselves?
-  Lobby and work with other bodies to explore the growing need for school places and fit 

for purpose buildings.

-  Ensure the ward has an appreciation and understanding of the 2021 census results in 
useable formats for funding applications.

-  Engage GFirst LEP, the councils and other public authorities in a discussion on long-term 
trends once the details of the 2021 national census emerge and can be compared to 
other data. 

-  Conduct an evaluation of the contribution of the voluntary sector to educational 
achievement.

Our local story
Junior Wardens is a decade old collaboration in the ward. It draws primary aged children into 
extra curriculum activities that encourage an awareness of society, personal responsibility, 
social action alongside an appreciation of democracy and law. Within the ward it pulls on 
the capabilities of housing providers, policing, civil and civic society. As our ward youth 
programmes are local in character and outside of national programmes like The Duke of 
Edinburgh Award, the recognition of Junior Wardens is an important key foundation to young 
people’s creation of CV experiences. 

Interesting practice elsewhere
Frome Town Council (FTC) recognises as we do that education literacy cannot be disentangled 
from poverty and wellbeing. 

“Low levels of literacy remain an issue that could affect FTC’s corporate strategic aims of 
increasing wellbeing, prosperity and environmental sustainability / resilience. Literacy has 
therefore been identified as a priority for FTC to work on with partners.”

The Frome Literacy Action Group consists of interested parties who have considered a town 
wide response to the problem and commissioned the National Literacy Trust to explore the 
challenge they face. As a result of this work, a Literacy Action Plan has been produced, 
implementation started and literacy actions within the Health and Wellbeing Strategy support 
its delivery.

P
age 17



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 16

Influential bodies and their 
strategic goals for Citizenship

Citizenship is a state of belonging to society with rights of 
duties and responsibilities.
The term citizen originally referred to membership of a borough or local municipal 
corporation like Gloucester. The term came to suggest the possession of certain 
liberties in the face of the coercive powers of authoritarian forces.

Encourages the use of the Public 

Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

to include public engagement 

in the contracts of public service 

providers.

Wants to ensure that all new 

developments are valued by 

residents by intergrating them 

well with existing communities.      

Winnycroft will be an important 

test.

Builds opportunities around local 

amenities and has organisational 

expertise based on ‘lived 

experience’.

Have a diverse range of 

experiences from profound 

poverty to stable economic and 

managerial responsibilities.

Parliamentarians
City Council and 
County Council

Our Ward Residents

Influential bodies and their 
strategic goals for Resilience
Resilience is the ability to recover from difficulties, it can be 
fostered by:
a.  Targeted interventions to build social 

relationships amongst and between 
isolated groups and those with 
influence. 

b.   Changes to the way existing (non-
wellbeing focused) services and 
support are run to facilitate social 
connections.

c.   Interventions that encourage social 
connections between people with 
similar experiences to provide peer 
support.

d.   The spread of ideas and knowledge.
e.   Tackling isolation through networks 

that build bridges.

Wants to develop a sustainable 

local health and care workforce 

– offering training and the best 

environment to attract and keep 

staff.

•  Wants to build up a talent pool 

of local leaders who live in the 

city to strengthen the economy.

•   Has a social levy policy and 

fund that can be linked to.

Has a depth of interconnected 

VCS services that tackle health 

inequalities through local talent.

Include a large group of social 

care workers with limited 

influence and social capital.

NHS and County 
Council

Our Ward Residents

City Council and 
County Council

P
age 18



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 17

Influential bodies and their 
strategic goals for Economics
Economics is about making choices. We all make choices every day. How much should I 
spend on clothes? What’s the best phone contract? 

It’s about weighing up different choices or alternatives, so what is best use of the 
‘Gloucestershire pound’ for health and wellbeing priorities - and who decides this?

Sometimes the most efficient and focused options are ignored. Economics is therefore 
also about understanding why sometimes choices that seem like the most economising 
or economical are overlooked.

Need local citizens to participate 

and benefit from the future 

economy of the county which 

they forecast will be in ONS 

groups 7 and 6 and above.

Has a strategy that seeks to 

address the skills gap and ensure 

that local people have the skills 

and abilities they need to access 

the jobs available.

Is too easily stereotyped by 

statistical analysis that front faces 

poverty and marginalisation; 

there is a more nuanced picture.

Those furthest from economic 

activity are supported but those 

in work have long hours and 

long commutes which limits 

engagement.

GFirst LEP and 
the Employment 
and Skills Board 

City Council and 
County Council

Our Ward Residents

Influential bodies and 
their strategic goals for 
Development
Development can be measured in ways that are obvious and clear to a majority of 
people.

Have buildings been replaced or prepared for a low-carbon future? Have the exam 
results of school leavers improved over a decade? Are more people employed? Is crime 
down? Have new working opportunities been made available within the ward? 

Development though is problematic when what looks like clear and easy wins or 
important gains aren’t items that citizens’ value. It becomes critical to understand why 
and how something is valued or not.

Consult and measure on a 

regular basis … but consultation 

is not a neutral activity, can 

lead to confusion and apathy, 

and easily supports the 

commissioner’s view.

Have placed great emphasis on 

the need to achieve regeneration 

of the public-housing stock in 

the ward and an improvement 

in the educational attainment of 

young people.

Lacks sufficient primary school 

places for the wards children, 

and indicators of a socio-

economic divide on who can 

choose to access education 

outside the ward.

Are typified by the presentation 

of statistics produced by 

organisations. Some statistics 

that are relative are given higher 

prominence than others.

NHS, GCH  
and others City Council  

and MP

Our Ward Residents

P
age 19



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 18

Influential bodies and their 
strategic goals for Sustainability
Sustainability means to think about the public domain in the 
round.
The UN says “sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs.” 

What happens if the community organisations are drained, if volunteering doesn’t 
open up opportunities, if the greenspaces are eaten up?

School rebuilds, housing 

regeneration and community 

buildings need to unlock the 

economic and business value of 

green infrastructure in a fashion 

that benefits the ward’s domestic 

wallets.

Could allow the social wellbeing 

of the ward to be considered in 

procuring public services under 

Public Services (Social Value) Act 

2012.

Has green spaces to value, 

inefficient public buildings and 

interesting opportunities to 

explore for green energy.

Have a diverse range of work 

skills that could be adapted 

and upgraded to contribute to 

sustainability given a long-term 

approach.

Major Projects City Council and 
County Council

Our Ward Residents

Accreditation

This update to the Power of Three is an expression of the confidence gained within the 
ward over the last five years. This confidence comes from successfully working together 
on activities that have built a positive ward identity of being proactive and offering 
activities that have nurtured talent and leadership. The refreshed plan recognises that 
despite the determination and efforts of the ward’s internal civil society there remains 
a substantial gulf between the societies of Matson, Robinswood and White City and 
other parts of the county. The belief of the plan is that the gulf is best closed by joint 
approaches that are mutually agreed between the ward and the influential, statutory 
and powerful organisations of the county. We have shown in the document where 
common ground lies; over the next months we will be reaching out to discuss with 
potential partners how the plan can be further developed. Furthermore, once we have 
entered a Covid stable world, the Partnership’s strategy is to invite all stakeholders to 
a day conference on the plan during which connections can be formed, benchmarks 
agreed and a wider vision shared.

The update process has been guided by Dr Iain Riddell, PhD (Sociology), MA (History), 
drawing upon the knowledge gained in the first phase and a review of the Partnership’s 
achievements since 2016. The process was overseen by a series of meetings during 
which ideas and concepts were developed, challenged and refined. An open leadership 
group of the Partnership’s Executive chaired by Bob Allen (Matson Baptist Church), 
and Dawn Barnes (The Venture: White City) drove the project forward looking at the 
fine detail. The Partnership expresses its gratitude to Gloucestershire Gateway Trust for 
resourcing this second phase and lending the communication skills of Rebecca Boseley 
DipMCIM to craft the final document.

Contact us
To get in touch with the Partnership you can email us at info@mrwcpartnership.org

For further information you can also contact Dr Iain Riddell by emailing 
talkingcommunity@cliffriddell.co.uk

P
age 20



Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership 19

Bibliography
Building an inclusive economy through community business: The role of social capital and agency in community business formation in deprived communities, Published by CLES, October 2019

LOCAL AUTHORITY PROVISION OF HOUSING (INTERIM REPORT), Janice Morphet and Ben Clifford, Bartlett School of Planning, University College London, Published by UCL April 2019

Financing for Society: Assessing the Suitability of Crowdfunding for the Public Sector, Bauman Institute for Critical Sociology, University of Leeds

REGENERATION & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2015-2020 Gloucester City Council

ECONOMIC GROWTH STRATEGY 2019-2022 Gloucester City Council

Joint Core Strategy – Gloucester, Cheltenham, Tewkesbury 2013

Strategic Economic Plan for Gloucestershire 2014 & 2018, GFirst LEP

Paper Six Health & Wellbeing 2016 Gloucester City Plan

One Gloucestershire NHS website - https://www.onegloucestershire.net/

HEALTHONOMICS 2019 Gloucestershire County Council

Building resilient communities, MIND 2013

The Ties that Bind: Citizenship and Civic Engagement in the 21st Century, House of Lords 2018

Reese, Laura A., and David Fasenfest. “What works best?: Values and the evaluation of local economic development policy.” Economic Development Quarterly 11, no. 3 (1997)

Khan, Habibullah. “Measurement and determinants of socioeconomic development: A critical conspectus.” Social Indicators Research 24, no. 2 (1991)

Blanden, Jo and Gibbons, Steve., The Persistence of Poverty across Generations: A View from two British Cohorts. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Pepper, Gillian V., and Daniel Nettle. “The behavioural constellation of deprivation: Causes and consequences.” Behavioural and Brain Sciences 40 (2017)

Blanden, Jo, and Paul Gregg. “Family income and educational attainment: a review of approaches and evidence for Britain.” Oxford review of economic policy 20.2 (2004): 245-263.

Gloucestershire Children and Family Centres Performance Report 2018

2017-2018 KS4 pupil destination metadata Gloucestershire

Onward, Katherine Lofthouse, ‘Derelict Toxteth Church comes to life with 10,000 hours of ‘sweat equity’ - https://www.onward.co.uk/derelict-toxteth-church-comes-to-life-with-10000-hours-of-
sweat-equity/ 

Cunningham, Gord, “Community economic literacy and the ‘leaky bucket’”, St Francis Xavier University, 2013

P
age 21



The Matson, Robinswood and White City Community Partnership is a non-hierarchical forum for a variety of people and organisations to discuss the needs of the ward and cooperative means to 
achieve them. It has a constitution, keeps records, elects a co-ordinating group and is transparent about its micro-funding. Active participation is not fixed in stone and varies over time and interest 
in specific topics and projects. Formal proposals and plans are brought to the attention of the widest possible group through networks of local people and events. The Partnership holds bi-monthly 
gatherings so that different perspectives can be included and shape the ward agenda.

The people and organisations who come to the partnership meetings are: Three of their key social contributions:

The Venture: White City Play; family support; community engagement

Local Councillors Democratic voice; representation of the people; contact with the public sector leadership

PCSOs Liaison with policing services; problem solving; community engagement 

Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust Environmental challenge; community engagement; climate value 

Robinswood Academy Trust, Robinswood Primary Academy and Moat Primary Academy Primary educational services; family liaison; building assets

Gloucester City Homes Housing support; community investment; regeneration

Gloucestershire Gateway Trust Community development; funding support; community engagement

Matson Baptist Church Community engagement; religious services; building assets

Matson and Robinswood Tenants’ Association Community engagement; representation of social housing residents; built environment awareness

Matson Lane Surgery Health services; accountability for primary community health trends; community engagement

Gloucester Services Employment; supporting local producers; community and school engagement

Church Army Community engagement; investing in people; ‘Share Matson’

GL4 Arts based engagement; creative expression; consciousness raising

GL Communities Community and economic development; advice; employability and wellbeing 

Together in Matson @ The Redwell Centre Investing in community capacity; development and emotional resilience; happiness and social connectivity

Individual local citizens Voice; insight; consciousness raising

Seventh Day Adventists Faith community; social challenge; impactful voice

Matson, Robinswood and 
White City Community Partnership

P
age 22



UPDATE ON STRATEGIC PLANNING IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

Meeting GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE 
(GEGJC)

Report Author Mike Dawson
Chair of GEGJC Senior Officer Group
Tel: 01684 272001
E-mail: mike.dawson@tewkesbury.gov.uk

Background 
documents

N/A

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
background 
documents

N/A

Main Consultees N/A
Planned Dates N/A
Purpose of report Status of Strategic Planning in Gloucestershire

This report provides an update on the status of the strategic plans 
that have been progressed by the Gloucestershire authorities and the 
levels of growth that have been identified and is being planned for 
within them.

Recommendations 1. To NOTE the update on the progress on strategic plan 
making by the Gloucestershire authorities, the amount of 
growth being planned for, and key delivery projects. 

Reason for 
recommendations

To ensure that the committee is aware of the status of strategic 
planning across the county.

Resource 
Implications

N/A

1. Introduction

1.1 Each of the Gloucestershire authorities have made significant progress with their 
strategic planning documents with the JCS authorities, Cotswold, Stroud, and 
Forest of Dean having adopted plans in place. These plans set out the housing and 
employment growth requirements for their respective areas as well as identifying 
major development projects that will help to deliver it. Furthermore, authorities are 
now already working on reviews of their plans as well as progressing their second 
tier local plans and supplementary planning documents. This paper provides an 
update on these plans and some of the key projects.
 

1.2 The report below sets out the individual growth needs for each plan area. In total 
the strategic plans in Gloucestershire identify the need for a total of 61,500 new 
homes and 342ha of employment land in the plan period to 2031.

Page 23

Agenda Item 8

mailto:mike.dawson@tewkesbury.gov.uk


2. Stroud District Local Plan

2.1 The Stroud District Local Plan was adopted in November 2015 and covers the 
period from 2006 to 2031. The plan identifies the following growth requirements:

 Housing: 11,400
 Employment land: 58ha
 Jobs: up to 12,500

2.2 To deliver the growth required, the local plan identifies several strategic sites that 
will meet a significant proportion of the housing requirement. These sites are as 
follows:

Site Homes Employment land 
(ha)

Hunts Grove Extension 750
Quedgeley East 13
North East Cam 450 12
Sharpness 300 17
Stroud Valleys 450
West of Stonehouse 1,350 10

2.3 Housing delivery has been strong within Stroud and as of 31st March 2020 there 
had already been 6,346 dwellings completed and a further 5,215 had received 
planning permission. The council can currently demonstrate an 8.95 years supply 
of housing land. As at 31st March 2020 employment land completions totalled 32 
hectares with 51 hectares having received permission.  

2.4 The council has been progressing a review of the Local Plan since 2017. The 
reviewed plan will cover the period from 2020-2040. Public consultation on the 
Draft Local Plan closed in January 2020. The growth strategy envisages delivering 
12,800 new homes at a series of strategic locations including two new settlements. 
Adoption of the new plan is anticipated in 2022.

3. Joint Core Strategy

3.1 The Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) was 
adopted in December 2017 and covers the period between 2011 and 2031. The 
plan identifies the following growth requirements:

 Homes: 35,175
 Employment land: 192ha
 Jobs: 39,500

3.2 To deliver this growth the JCS identifies several large strategic allocations as urban 
extensions to Gloucester and Cheltenham that will make a significant contribution 
to delivering both housing and employment growth. These are as follows:

Site Homes Employment land 
(ha)

Innsworth & Twigworth 2,295 9.1
South Churchdown 1,100 17.4
North Brockworth 1,500 3
North West Cheltenham 4,285 23.4

Page 24



West Cheltenham 1,100 45
Ashchurch 14.3
Winneycroft 620

3.3 In addition to these allocations there had been joint working with Wychavon District 
Council on a site at Mitton, within Wychavon but on the edge of Tewkesbury town, 
contributing towards Tewkesbury’s housing needs. This site is currently subject to 
an outline planning application for 500 dwellings which is yet to be resolved.

3.4 The sites at Innsworth & Twigworth, South Churchdown, North Brockworth, 
Ashchurch and Winneycroft are already subject to outline planning consents which 
cover a significant part, if not the entire, site. Reserved Matters approval has been 
granted for development parcels on Innsworth and North Brockworth and the 
delivery of homes on site began within 2019/20. 

3.5 The site at North West Cheltenham is currently subject of live planning applications 
and West Cheltenham is undergoing detailed pre-application discussions. None of 
the strategic allocations have yet started to deliver and the next key phase of the 
JCS is to work with developers and infrastructure providers to deliver these sites. 
However, the Golden Valley Supplementary Planning Document was adopted by 
both Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Borough Councils in July 2020 which will help 
guide the development of the West Cheltenham site. 

3.6 Delivery in the JCS are has been strong and as of 31st March 2019 total 
completions over the JCS plan period to date have totalled 12,215 dwellings. In 
addition, there are future commitments from sites with planning permission and 
allocated sites that are to provide a further 13,317 dwellings. The adoption of the 
emerging Tewkesbury Borough Plan and Gloucester City Plan will add further to 
the housing supply of the area. 

3.7 The JCS commits to an immediate review on housing supply for Tewkesbury 
Borough and Gloucester as well as a retail/town centre review for the whole area. 
With regards to new homes, the JCS identifies a housing shortfall of around 2,400 
homes for Tewkesbury Borough and around 1,000 homes for Gloucester at the 
time of adoption. In regards to retail, an immediate review is required to update an 
assessment of retails needs and to explore the allocation of strategic retail sites in 
accordance with a retail/town centre strategy. However, due to new requirements 
set out in the revised National Planning Policy Framework and to address wider 
delivery issues with the existing JCS, it is considered that this review will need be 
extended to be a comprehensive review of the plan.

3.8 To start this process the JCS Review Issues & Options consultation took place from 
November 2018 to January 2019. This consultation asked questions around all 
aspects of the review, including the extent of its scope and plan period to be 
addressed. The authorities are now in the process of gathering the evidence 
required to inform the development of a draft JCS that will be subject to public 
consultation in Summer 2021. 

3.9 Outside of the strategic allocations, each of the JCS authorities also has an 
identified district capacity which is to be met by smaller-scale allocations made 
through district-level plans that will sit underneath the JCS. These plans are now at 
an advanced stage, with the Cheltenham Plan already being adopted in August 
2020, while the Tewkesbury Borough Plan was submitted for examination in May 
2020 and the Gloucester City Plan submit is to be submitted in Winter 2020.

Page 25



4. Forest of Dean Core Strategy & Allocations Plan

4.1 The Forest of Dean Core Strategy was adopted on 2012 and covers the period 
from 2006 to 2026. An Allocations plan which incorporates a full review of housing 
requirements and makes allocations accordingly was adopted in 2018. The 
following growth requirements are identified:

 Housing: 6,600
 Employment land: 68ha

4.2 The Allocations Plan contains a large number of allocations of different scales 
across the settlements within the Forest of Dean.  Allocations at the larger 
settlements are as follows:

Site Homes Employment land (ha)
Cinderford (inc approx. 240 
homes in Nothern Quarter*) 515 12

Coleford 500 8
Lydney 1850 40
Newent 420 5

Tutshill/Sedbury 240
Other Villages 510

* as identified in the 2012 adopted Cinderford Northern Quarter Area Action Plan

The plan period runs from 2006 to 2026 and about 3888 dwellings (net) of the 20 
year requirement of 6600 had been completed up to March 31 2020.

The Council have commenced a revised Local Plan seeking to cover the period 
2021-2041 and the current housing requirement by the standard method is 371pa 
or a total of 7420 over the period.  The Plan is at an early stage with issues and 
options having been discussed and a broad strategy now being formulated.

5. Cotswold District Local Plan

5.1 The Cotswold District Local Plan 2011-2031 was adopted on 3rd August 2018. The 
plan includes both a core strategy and site allocations. The Local Plan growth 
requirements are:

 Housing: 8,400 (an average of 420 homes a year)
 Employment land: 24ha

5.2 The Local Plan allocates land within 17 Principal Settlements. Most allocations are 
smaller scale sites. However, there is one strategic scale allocation at Land south 
of Chesterton in Cirencester which was granted planning permission in April 2019 
and makes a significant contribution towards the District’s needs. 

The larger sites include the following:

Site Allocated Homes Allocated Employment 
land (ha)

Chesterton, Cirencester 2,350 (c. 1,550 within 9.1

Page 26



Plan period)
Fosseway Ave, Moreton-in-
Marsh 

119 (although 250 
applied for)

Fire Services College, 
Moreton-in-Marsh

7.0

Cotswold District has a supply of 6.8 years’ of deliverable housing sites for the five 
year period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2025. The District also passes the Housing 
Delivery Test with a score of 201% (2,028 dwellings delivered in the past three 
years measured against a residual housing requirement of 1,010 dwellings).

The District has had 5,204 dwellings completed between April 2011 and March 
2020. At 1 April 2020, 4,172 further dwellings had extant planning permission 
(3,187 of which are expected to be delivered by 2031). It is estimated that total 
housing delivery over the plan period, including windfalls, will be 10,115 dwellings.

The current standard method for assessing housing needs would increase the 
District’s housing need to 490 dwellings per annum. The District Council has 
commenced a Local Plan partial update to accommodate the additional growth and 
to make the Local Plan ‘green to the core’.

The Government’s proposed standard method calculation of housing need would 
increase the District’s housing need to 1,209 dwellings a year. Such a significant 
increase and the proposed radically altered planning reforms would require a full 
Local Plan update. The key issue before the administration is to confirm how it 
wishes to proceed with plan making activites. If it continues with a partial update of 
the local plan this may result in costly abortive work. However, should the planning 
reforms and changes to the District’s housing need / requirement not come to 
fruition , the Council is unlikely to want to cause unnecessary delay the Local Plan 
partial update. 

6. Key Delivery Projects

6.1 As the strategic plans move from adoption the next key step is facilitating the 
delivery of the plans and the growth objectives and site allocations set out within 
them. Some of the key projects currently underway are discussed below.

6.2 M5 Junction 10

Gloucestershire County Council have been successful in their bid to Highways 
England for funding to upgrade Junction 10 of the M5. The agreement has recently 
been signed and is for £250million with a delivery by October 2024. This funding 
will be used to improve access to and from the motorway northbound and 
southbound to a new link road into Cheltenham and will be critical in the delivery of 
housing and employment growth in this area. Funding is also being made available 
for improvements to the A4019, Coombe Hill junction and the park and ride facility.

Work is currently underway to determine the exact location and layout of the 
upgraded motorway junction and a public consultation on this is set to take place in 
October/November 2020. 

6.3 M5 Junction 9 / A46

Options are currently being considered for a new dual carriageway between the M5 
near Tewkesbury and Teddington Hands roundabout and associated works to M5 

Page 27



junction 9, thereby removing significant volumes of strategic traffic from the A46 
through Ashchurch and enabling this existing section to better cater for local traffic 
movements between Tewkesbury and Ashchurch. The scheme would improve 
regional/national north-south road connectivity as well as solving long standing 
local traffic issues along the A46 corridor. The scheme will also unlock transport 
capacity to support the delivery of the Tewkesbury Garden Town.

As this proposal is in the early stages of development – an outline business case 
(OBC) is scheduled to be submitted Winter 2021 - the exact location of the new 
road and details of the junction upgrade are yet be decided and work is currently 
being carried out to identify suitable options to be brought forward for public 
consultation in early 2021.

A417 Missing Link

The planned £500 million upgrade of the A417, a key route linking the South West 
and Midlands, will see a single lane stretch of carriageway between the Brockworth 
bypass and Cowley roundabout in Gloucestershire, upgraded to dual carriageway. 
This will remove a notorious bottleneck in Gloucestershire’s road network, which 
will benefit road users, local communities and businesses. Several consultations 
have already taken place and a further consultation is taking place on amendments 
to specific aspects of the scheme design, ahead of the scheme being submitted for 
examination in 2021.

6.4 North West Cheltenham Strategic Allocation

A planning application for North West Cheltenham has been submitted jointly to 
Tewkesbury and Cheltenham Borough Councils. The councils are working closely 
with the developers and infrastructure providers to progress the application to 
ensure the timely delivery of development. Transport infrastructure is a key 
component of these discussions and how the traffic impact of the site is managed 
and The development of this site, as with North West Cheltenham, is linked to 
future improvement of M5 J10.

6.5 Golden Valley Development

Now known as the Golden Valley Development, the West Cheltenham strategic 
allocation site was identified in the JCS to deliver 1,100 homes and 45ha of 
employment land. Cheltenham Borough and Tewkesbury Borough councils 
adopted the Golden Valley Development Supplementary Planning Document to 
help to promote and steer the future development of the strategic allocation. 

The GFirst LEP, Cheltenham Borough Council, Gloucestershire County Council 
and Cheltenham Development Taskforce have been working on the development 
of a ‘cyber hub’ as part of the West Cheltenham strategic allocation. Through this 
work a successful bid was made for £22m funding to help deliver the development 
of the cyber hub. Close working is being undertaken with the developers and 
infrastructure providers to progress the site towards a planning application. 

Transport infrastructure is again key component of these discussions and how the 
traffic impact of the site is managed. The development of this site, as with North 
West Cheltenham, is linked to future improvement of M5 J10. 

6.6 Tewkesbury Garden Town

Page 28



The Tewkesbury/Ashchurch area was awarded Garden Town status in 2019 based 
upon a potential development of 10,195 homes and approximately 100 hectares of 
employment land. The Garden Town will be supported by infrastructure including 
roads, schools and green space to meet the community needs through excellent 
‘place making’.

Work continues on master planning the development proposal, which includes 
gaining an understanding of development principles for the garden town, 
infrastructure needs as well as workstreams including governance, place making  
and land assembly.

To support development, an early infrastructure delivery is underway – a new 
bridge over the railway line at Northway based upon the award of £8.1 million from 
the Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF). The planning application has now been 
submitted and the next phase includes detailed design and the selection of a 
construction partner will take place early next year.  

6.7 Strategic Site south of Chesterton, Cirencester

Land to the south of Chesterton, Cirencester was granted outline planning 
permission in April 2019 for, amongst other things, up to 2,350 dwellings (including 
up to 100 units of student accommodation and 60 homes for the elderly), 9.1 
hectares of employment land (B1, B2 and B8 uses) (ref: 16/00054/OUT).
It is currently anticipated that around 1,550 dwellings will be completed during the 
plan period with the remainder coming forward after 2031. Some pre-
commencement infrastructure is in the process of being installed. Discharge of 
condition applications are currently being determined. The first reserved matters 
application for Phase 1 (of four phases) is expected in late October 2020.

6.8 Cinderford Northern Quarter
A mixed use regeneration area spearheaded by the new Gloucestershire College 
for the Forest now completed.  Includes housing and employment allocations and a 
spine road the first phase of which is now complete.  Has been supported by HCA 
(as they then were) and land is in public ownership (FoDDC and Homes England).

6.9 Lydney Harbour Regeneration
A comprehensive scheme to safeguard and protect the docks and harbour and 
realise their full potential whilst supporting a major private sector investment for 
which a planning application is due shortly.  It is centred on a former factory, and 
will provide jobs and a recreational/ tourism opportunity.

6.10 West of Stonehouse Strategic Allocation

Outline planning permission for 1,350 dwellings, local centre and 10 hectares of 
employment land was granted in April 2016. Reserved matters were approved in 
May 2017 for infrastructure to serve Phase 1. Developers were on site September 
2017. Redrow and Barratt Homes/David Wilson Homes are delivering the first 
housing phases. The delivery of employment parcels is linked to progress with 
initial housing phases to ensure balanced growth of homes and jobs. The 
implementation of phases is being managed via area masterplans. 

6.11 Hunts Grove Extension/Quedgeley East Strategic Allocations

Page 29



A renegotiated outline permission for Hunts Grove was granted in July 2016 for 
1,750 dwellings, school and local centre. 412 dwellings have been built to date. An 
application for Hunts Grove Extension (750 dwellings) is expected by early spring 
2021. Crest Nicholson will oversee delivery as main developer with partner 
developers building out sub areas within the masterplan. An outline permission for 
25 hectares of employment land at Quedgeley East was granted in November 2018 
subject to delivering M5 J12 improvements and is now under construction. Capacity 
issues remain at M5 J12.

7. Strategic Planning Matters

7.1 White Paper: Planning for the Future

On 6th August 2020, the Government’s published its White Paper: Planning for the 
Future for consultation1. The White Paper sets out a package of proposals for the 
reform of the planning system in England to streamline and modernise the planning 
process, improve outcomes on design and sustainability, reform developer 
contributions and ensure more land is available for development where it is 
needed.

The White Paper sets out that the current planning system by a number of issues 
that need to be addressed in order for it to be fit for purpose. This includes being 
too complex and inconsistent with a loss of public trust; that the plan making 
process is too long with the evidence underpinning it being too complex and 
opaque; the approach to developer contributions to infrastructure and affordable 
housing is too complex and protracted; that there is not enough focus on design; 
and that it is not resulting in enough homes being built. It also states the system is 
based on 20th century technology and needs to be modernised.

The White Paper sets out a number of proposals across three ‘pillars’ of ‘Planning 
for development’, ‘Planning for beautiful and sustainable places’ and ‘Planning for 
infrastructure and connected places’

Key proposals include simplifying the role of Local Plans, to expedite the process to 
developing plans, and changing the emphases to a more ‘zonal’ approach to 
designating land for development or protection that focuses on setting out local 
specific design codes rather than generic planning policies.  Proposals look to 
make decision making faster and more certain by front-loading the plan making 
process and making the application process more standard and digital. Great 
emphasis is put on design and place making with a recognition of the changing 
resources, skills and priorities needed for councils. The White Paper proposes to 
consolidate the existing Community Infrastructure Levy and S106 system for 
development contributions into a single consolidated Infrastructure Levy through 
which affordable housing would be delivered.  

This planning reform, if it follows the lines of the White Paper, would consist of a 
major change to the planning system and would have a significant impact on 
strategic plan making across Gloucestershire.

Changes to the Current Planning System Consultation

The government undertook a concurrent consultation between August and October 

1 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-
Consultation.pdf

Page 30

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf


2020 on Changes to the current planning system2. This aims to improve the 
effectiveness of the current planning system. Its four main proposals are changes 
to the standard method for assessing local housing need; securing of First Homes 
through developer contributions in the short term pending the transition to a new 
system; lifting the threshold below which developers do not need to contribute to 
affordable housing to 40 or 50 dwellings for an initial 18-month period; and 
extending the current Permission in Principle to major development.

The proposed standard method for assessing housing need, if implemented, would 
have an impact on strategic planning in Gloucestershire. The table below identifies 
current and proposed housing needs to illustrate the differences.

Current Local 
Plan requirement

Current standard 
method 

requirement

Proposed new 
standard method 

requirement
Cheltenham 546 531 528
Cotswold 420 490 1,209
Forest of Dean 323 370 608
Gloucester 727 658 578
Stroud 456 635 786
Tewkesbury 495 564 1,037

The proposed increased threshold of 40 or 50 new homes below which affordable 
housing could not be sought would also reduce the delivery of affordable housing in 
Gloucestershire. It is expected that there would be much longer lasting impacts of 
this policy than the initial 18-months that it would be in place for.

7.3 Gloucestershire Strategic Planning Statement of Common Ground

The Committee has agreed to the preparation of a strategic planning framework for 
Gloucestershire. This commitment is being taken forward through the preparation 
of a statement of common ground which will be entered into by the six local 
planning authorities, the County Council and GFirst LEP. 

This strategic framework would set out an agreed long-term view of growth in the 
county. This would allow the local planning authorities to continue to deliver current 
and future spatial plans and policies, while enabling them to work together to 
determine a coordinated approach to future strategic planning in the county. This 
would improve strategic planning coordination, cooperation and communication to 
avoid potential conflict between plans and partners.

A Statement of Common Ground is currently being drafted amongst officers of each 
of the partner authorities. 

2 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907215/200805_Changes_to
_the_current_planning_system_FINAL_version.pdf

Page 31

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907215/200805_Changes_to_the_current_planning_system_FINAL_version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907215/200805_Changes_to_the_current_planning_system_FINAL_version.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



TAXI LICENSING TASK GROUP REPORT 

November 2020 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1. In September 2019, Cllr Haigh requested to set up a task group with the ambition to 

explore the economic benefits and make recommendations in respect of adopting a 

common set of standards, sanctions, fees and guidance for taxi and private hire 

vehicle licensing for all local authorities in Gloucestershire. 

 

This request was approved by the Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee and the 

following areas were outlined for consideration: 

 The National Revocations and Refusals Register 

 The fit and proper persons test 

 Environmental concerns, including air quality 

 Adaptations for people with disabilities 

 The ongoing government review and LGA best practise 

 App based taxi services 

 The role of taxis and PHVs in rural communities 

 School transport 

 Training and how training is shared 

 Safeguarding and vulnerable users 

 The economic benefits to be gained by a common partnership approach between 

District Licensing Authorities (DLAs) 

As noted above, this group was formed and their research completed before the 

Covid-19 pandemic. The group acknowledge that travel has changed significantly 

during this time and may continue to do so as patterns of travel settle. What remains 

however, is that offering a high level of standard across the County will help to 

increase confidence in residents to use taxi and private hire vehicles, be this during 

or after the pandemic restrictions. 

The report content should be read as up to date pre-March 2020. The group 

acknowledge some areas of work may now have progressed or experienced 

unforeseen delays, and this will be reflected in the final recommendations.   

1.2   MEMBERSHIP  

 

The membership comprised of both County Councillors and District Councillors most of 

whom were Chairs of their particular Licensing Committee. Members from 

Gloucestershire County Council (GGC) were Councillors Kate Haigh, Bernard Fisher, 

Stephen Hirst and Brian Robinson. District Licensing Committee Chairs were Councillors 

Clive Walford (Gloucester), David Willingham (Cheltenham), Graham Bocking 

(Tewkesbury), Mattie Ross (Stroud), Juliet Layton (Cotswolds) and Maria Edwards 

(Forest of Dean).  

 

Councillor Kate Haigh was appointed as Chair. 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



1.3   MEETINGS 

 

Groups and individuals were invited to give evidence and information, as decided by the 

group within a series of meetings. 

 

Meetings focused on different groups and areas which govern and are impacted by 

licensing; the Integrated Transport Unit, the Gloucestershire Licensing Officers Group, 

hackney and private hire drivers and members of the public.  

 

2.  INTERNAL FINDINGS FROM GCC AND DLA’s  

 

At the first two meetings of the task group, Members examined the background of 

transport and licensing within the Integrated Transport Unit for both the County council 

and the Districts councils. The following information was noted: 

INTEGRATED TRANSPORT UNIT (ITU) 

2.1. The Integrated Transport Unit procure transport for specific purposes which included 

but was not limited to; home to school transport, transport to respite and social care 

provision and some out of hours transport when required for children’s respite 

breaks and children’s social care.  

2.2. ITU will only use approved operators, GCC audits operators on an annual basis and 

where necessary may audit more frequently. The Unit had two full time engineers to 

ensure that contracts are compliant with vehicle standards.  

2.3. On April 23rd 2019, CCTV and General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 

requirements were introduced into all contracts procured after this date. Contracts 

procured before April 23rd 2019 have subsequently had CCTV & GDPR applied to 

them. 

2.4. In the last 4 years, ITU have issued 1,021 compliance reports to operators. The 

majority of these were for non safeguarding issues, however 53 did relate to 

safeguarding.  Some were referred to the LADO for further investigation. 

2.5. There was a query as to whether GCC is a member of the National Register of 

Revocations and Refusals (see recommendations 7.1 and 7.6).   

GLOUCESTERSHIRE LICENSING OFFICERS GROUP (GLOG)  

2.6. The GLOG is made up of licensing officers from all six District authorities in 

Gloucestershire. Representatives from the GLOG were invited to give the task group 

an overview of the current licensing policies, standards, arrangements and licensing 

and taxi demand in their area. Members noted the following points. 

2.7. There were similarities and differences between the Districts on different aspects of 

licensing, standards and enforcement. Gloucester has taken steps to align policies 

more closely with other Districts, including safeguarding awareness. Gloucester has 

also introduced an English proficiency test for drivers and Euro 6 Regulations for 

emissions, which should be implemented by 2023. 

2.8. Cheltenham has also introduced an English proficiency test and offers safeguarding 

training in house to its drivers and drivers licensed by the other Districts are also 

able to take part in. Some licensing committee Chairs have also taken part. 

Cheltenham and Gloucester are also both members of the National Register of 

Page 34



Revocations and Refusals (NR3). A policy for all hackney vehicles to be wheelchair 

accessible by 2021 has also been introduced in Cheltenham, which has proved 

contentious. In Cheltenham and Gloucester, applicants can appeal against license 

refusals (which is an officer process, based on the policy) which then goes to the 

sub-committee. 

2.9. Stroud introduced an age policy for vehicles three years ago and is awaiting 

guidance issued by central government next year to implement anything around 

emissions. Some appeals decisions can be delegated to officers rather than the 

licensing committee. Stroud is also signed up to NR3 but has yet to be implemented. 

As with other areas, safeguarding training is compulsory for all drivers. 

2.10. In the Forest of Dean and Cotswolds, NR3 is also yet to be implemented though 

both Districts have signed up. It was noted that taxis were struggling for consistent 

business in these areas and so it was noted that care needed to be taken on looking 

at aligning policies- too many restrictions may put drivers off licensing in areas which 

are already struggling with availability. Committee members have also been invited 

to take up training. The Cotswolds have had only 1 appeal lodged this year. 

2.11. Tewkesbury has yet to sign up to NR3 but have communicated their intention to do 

so. Similarly to Stroud, appeals decisions can often be delegated to officers before 

going to licensing committee. Tewkesbury has also implemented an English test for 

drivers and safeguarding training is compulsory. 

2.12. The following table shows the areas of policy alignment across the six Districts: 

 English test Euro 6 Safeguarding 

training 

NR3 Wheel Chair 

accessible 

Vehicle age 

policy 

Gloucester Yes 2023 Yes Yes  Yes 

Cheltenham Yes  Yes Yes 2021 Yes 

Forest   Yes In progress  Yes 

Stroud   Yes In progress  Yes 

Cotswold    Yes In progress  Yes 

Tewkesbury Yes  Yes In progress   

GCC    No   

 

3. TAXI DRIVERS SURVEY  

 

3.1. In order to understand the views of taxi drivers in Gloucestershire, the task group 

worked with GLOG officers to produce a questionnaire (copy attached at Annex A). 

3.2. The questions focused on views of current and any changes to policies and their 

enforcement, views of current training offers and what potential gaps there were that 

drivers felt should be addressed. This was to enable the group to consider drivers 

and the sustainability of the trade within its recommendations.    

Page 35



3.3. The group received forty responses from Gloucester, thirty from Stroud and eight 

from the Forest of Dean/Cotswolds. No responses were received from Cheltenham 

or Tewkesbury. 

3.4. Members reviewed the feedback under give main topic headings as follows: 

POLICY ALIGNMENT AND OUT OF DISTRICT ENFORCEMENT  

3.5. Respondents from Stroud and Gloucester were less likely to be in favour of policy 

alignment, with twenty two respondents out of forty from Gloucester and nineteen 

respondents out of thirty in Stroud responding negatively. Common reasons for this 

were the emphasis of different needs and requirements between Districts. Those 

who responded positively gave reasons such as simplifying enforcement and 

administration and giving passengers a better idea of what to expect. Responses 

from the Forest of Dean/Cotswolds were mixed, with some respondents being 

unsure of how well their current policy aligns with others.   

3.6. Respondents from all areas were generally in favour of officers carrying out 

enforcement on taxi and private hire drivers who were from out of District. A concern 

raised frequently by respondents from Gloucester is that drivers from other Districts 

use vehicles which are not the same standard but are still able to pick up work in the 

Gloucester area. 

3.7. It was noted that mutual agreement is needed between licensing authorities as to 

what can be jointly enforced. The easiest place to start with a transition to uniformity 

may be vehicle standards. A comparison of the current standards across Districts 

would be useful to begin to examine where transitions could be made to joint 

enforcement (see recommendation 7.2).  

ELECTRIC AND GREEN VEHICLES 

3.8. Only one respondent said that they currently used an electric vehicle. Feedback 

from all areas presented the concerns of drivers around the costs of moving to 

electric vehicles and that the costs would be too great to remain in business. Some 

respondents said that subsidies or development of infrastructure prior to any 

changes in policy would be needed to encourage them to move to electric vehicles 

or any policy changes should be held back until such a time where electric vehicles 

became more affordable. 

3.9. The group noted this feedback and noted that sensitivity would be needed in the 

implementation and enforcement of any potential changes to policy of moving to 

electric vehicles. Charging points and the overall infrastructure requirements were 

noted as an area of development to make any new policies on the use of electric 

vehicles successful (see recommendation 7.5). 

SAFEGUARDING AND DISABILITY AWARENESS TRAINING  

3.10. From the Districts that were represented by the feedback, responses showed a 

majority of their drivers had completed safeguarding training. Responses varied 

however, on how useful it was and how often the training should be repeated. Less 

had completed disability awareness training and there was mixed views on how 

useful drivers found it, with some respondents saying there was no need to take it or 

repeat it as it was ‘common sense’. Very few respondents used Wheelchair 

Page 36



Accessible Vehicles (WAVs), with some respondents saying they had not 

experienced demand for WAVs.  

3.11. Reflecting on these points, Members considered that every four years could be a 

reasonable timescale for repeating safeguarding training, in order to keep up with 

legislation and technology changes. In addition, the group noted that accessibility is 

a legal requirement however this can be difficult for officers to enforce, some have 

started to use CCTV in their vehicles to ease enforcement and ensure the safety of 

drivers and passengers. It was also noted that any training should take into account 

‘invisible disabilities’ such as autism and how drivers can support people with these 

(see recommendation 7.3 and 7.5).  

APP BASED SYSTEMS 

3.12. Whilst respondents in Gloucester, the Forest of Dean and the Cotswolds were more 

in favour of cooperating on an app based hailing system, most respondents from 

Stroud in contrast responded negatively or were unsure. Some private hire drivers 

reported already utilising app based systems and others when asked how local 

authorities could support development said there would be a need for funds and 

training. There were respondents in all areas who felt that an app was not relevant 

or would not be beneficial to their business if they did not typically take short 

journeys, such as guided tour companies. 

3.13. The group explored the idea of a County wide app based system, which could be a 

potential option for the future, depending on how national guidance may develop.  

PUBLIC AWARENESS  

3.14. Respondents from Gloucester, the Cotswolds and the Forest of Dean held a general 

consensus that greater public awareness of the differences between hackney and 

private hire would help to safeguard both drivers and passengers, whilst 

respondents from Stroud were balanced for and against on this need.  

3.15. Suggestions of how local authorities could help achieve greater awareness included 

information and advertising via social media, websites and posters at taxi ranks. 

Another common suggestion was stronger enforcement. Most responded across all 

areas that they would support an awareness campaign in Gloucestershire similar to 

the ‘Cabwise’ campaign run by Transport for London.  

3.16. The group noted the consensus and discussed the possibility of an awareness 

raising campaign similar to the videos created by Transport for London, using 

Gloucestershire residents and settings. This was also something which could be 

raised with the Local Government Association (see recommendation 7.7).  

 

4. PUBLIC SURVEY  

 

4.1. A second consultation process was carried out in order for the group to understand 

how the public felt about the current service and look at how any particular concerns 

or issues raised by the public could be addressed through the group’s 

recommendations (copy attached at Annex B). 

4.2. This was promoted through District social media and communications channels and 

Members received 85 responses in all, with 46% from Gloucester, 18% from the 

Page 37



Cotswolds, 15% from the Forest of Dean, 14% from Cheltenham, 5% from Stroud 

and 1% from Tewkesbury. 

4.3. The group noted that 73% of respondents feeling that they had a good experience 

with using taxi services, 95% felt that affordability was important and overall the 

comments received supported the idea of installing CCTV in taxis particularly for the 

safety of both the driver and passengers. Some respondents commented that they 

felt CCTV was ‘intrusive and not necessary’ or that people should have the 

opportunity to opt out of being filmed.  

4.4. When discussing responses within the group, an idea emerged of whether it would 

be beneficial to run similar surveys on a more regular basis and for these to be 

fedback to the DLC’s, GLOG and the ITU within the County Council (see 

recommendation 6). Members felt this would allow effective monitoring of the 

success of any changes and would in turn help to support the trade as it changes in 

the coming years. 

4.5. The top three alternative methods of transport used by respondents were car, 

walking and buses. Members also noted that 85% of respondents used their own 

car, 38% used a taxi on a monthly basis and 32% only used one approximately once 

every three months.  

4.6. 65% of respondents felt that they didn’t know how to raise a concern or make a 

complaint. However, 93% have reported concerns about poor service, with 

comments on these highlighting themes of unreliable service and aggressive drivers. 

4.7. On the question of further feedback, the three themes raised were poor service in 

rural locations, taxis being too expensive and experiences of poor service where the 

drivers did not stick to the speed limits, spoke very little English, were not familiar 

with the area or parked their taxis inappropriately. 

  

5. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION  

 

5.1. Contributions to the group’s understanding of the wider context of public transport 

and the place of taxis and Private Hire Vehicles had also been presented at 

meetings. This included a brief on the review of the Local Transport Plan and a 

Community Transport pilot scheme. 

5.2. Members heard that the Local Transport Plan review aimed to consider taxis and 

private hire vehicles as part of the wider transport network. As the government also 

had ambitions to remove petrol and diesel vehicles from the roads by 2040, the 

review would also consider the development of infrastructure to support any such 

transition. Air Quality Management Areas would also be considered and may include 

the option of an air quality hotspot approach in some areas, for example Barton 

Street in Gloucester. The full review is taking place from 2020-2022.     

5.3. The group also noted that GCC were currently planning for a community transport 

pilot to be run in 2020. Proposals are being developed to explore a demand 

responsive service, which would run between 7am and 7pm and would aim to be 

fully accessible to those with disabilities. The service would act as a support and a 

transfer service to regular buses. A portal would be launched for advance bookings 

via email and a call centre for bookings was also being explored. The pilot is aiming 

to run in two areas; the North Cotswolds and South Forest of Dean. These areas 

have a low population density which means there are not as many commercial 

services run and they can be harder to access because of distance. ITU have 

Page 38



submitted an expression of interest to the Department for Transport for funding to 

run a 2 year pilot scheme.   

5.4. Officers who had developed the proposals made clear that they are open to 

conversations with the taxi trade to see how these services could work together (see 

recommendation 7.5).  

 

6. ECONOMIC BENEFITS 

 

6.1. One of the group’s objectives was to understand the economic benefits of offering a 

high level of standard and common approach for the County’s taxi and private hire 

vehicle sector. 

6.2. Members acknowledged through their research that simply offering a safer, better 

standard of vehicle hire locally would in itself improve consumer confidence in using 

these services and in turn, create a more stable job market for local drivers and 

support local hire businesses. 

 

7. RECOMMENDATIONS  

In response to the above evidence gathering, the task group have concluded to make the 

following recommendations: 

Recommendations to District Licensing Committees and the Gloucestershire Licensing 

Officers Group 

7.1. To sign up to and implement the National Register of Refusals and Revocations 

(NR3) for the respective authorities if they have not already done so. 

 

7.2. To draw up a comparison of policies and licensing standards across all authorities 

and explore how vehicle standards and enforcement can be aligned and organised 

jointly. This may be done through a transition period of implementing new standards 

gradually.  

 

7.3. To agree and implement a joint training offer on safeguarding and disability 

awareness for licensing committee members and drivers.  

 

7.4. To work towards a common approach to the use of CCTV in taxis and private higher 

vehicles across the County by 2024. The group note the recent Statutory Guidance 

that has been published on this which identifies the benefits of using this technology 

and of a common approach to adopting changes to the licensing regime.  

(Please refer to  paragraphs 7.7 – 7.13 at the following link for further information: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm

ent_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-

2020.pdf).  

Recommendations to Transport Planning and Integrated Transport Unit 

7.5. To work together with District licensing committees and the GLOG to ensure that 

planned changes to infrastructure such as electric charging points and projects such 

Page 39

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf


as the community transport pilot take taxi and private hire vehicles into account, 

particularly for those operating in rural areas.  

 

7.6. To sign Gloucestershire County Council up to and implement the National Register 

of Refusals and Revocations (NR3) if they have not already done so. 

 

7.7. Recommendations to District Licensing Officers and the GCC ITU To collaborate on 

a County wide awareness raising media campaign to improve public awareness of 

the differences between hackney and private hire vehicles.  

 

7.8. To run annual County wide surveys for drivers and the general public via the District 

licensing authorities to monitor progress and effectiveness of recommendations. The 

responses from this are to be discussed between District Licensing Committees, 

GLOG and ITU at a joint annual meeting. 

 

ENDS 

 

Cllr Kate Haigh (GCC) 
Cllr Bernard Fisher (GCC) 
Cllr Stephen Hirst (GCC) 
Cllr Brian Robinson (GCC) 
Cllr Clive Walford (Gloucester City Council) 
Cllr David Willingham (Cheltenham Borough Council) 
Cllr Graham Bocking (Tewkesbury Borough Council) 
Cllr Mattie Ross (Stroud District Council) 
Cllr Juliet Layton (Cotswolds District Council) 
Cllr Maria Edwards (Forest of Dean District Council) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



ANNEX A 

SURVEY FOR TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS 

1. Type of vehicle  

 

 Do you drive a hackney carriage vehicle or a private hire vehicle?  

 

2. Gloucestershire policies 

 

 Do you think that the different policies in Gloucestershire should be more aligned and 

if yes why? 

 

3. Cross Border hiring 

 

 Do you think there is an issue with vehicles licensed by other Districts working in your 

District and if so how does it affect you? 

 

4. Safeguarding training 

 

 Have you had safeguarding training and if yes did you find it useful? 

 How often do you think safeguarding training should be repeated and what do you 

think should be included in safeguarding training? 

 

5. Disability awareness training 

 

 Have you had disability awareness training and if yes did you find it useful? 

 Do you think all drivers should have disability awareness training and how often? 

 What do you think should be included in disability awareness training? 

 

6. Electric vehicles 

 

 Do you have a licensed electric vehicle? If not, what would encourage you to licence 

an electric vehicle? 

 What is your view on local authorities bringing in a policy to make all hackney 

vehicles and or private hire vehicles electric or using an alternative fuel by a 

particular date? 

 How long is a reasonable time to replace vehicles should such a policy be 

introduced?  a. For new vehicles b. To take existing vehicles off the road 

 Would you be willing to trial an electric taxi for 30 days as done in Nottingham? 

(https://www.transportnottingham.com/driving/electric-taxi-trial/) 

 

7. WheelChair accessible vehicles (WAV) 

 Do you have a licensed WAV? If not, what would encourage you to licence a WAV? 

 What is your view on local authorities bringing in a policy to make all hackney 

vehicles WAVs by a particular date? 

 

8. App based systems 

Page 41

https://www.transportnottingham.com/driving/electric-taxi-trial/


 Would you be willing to cooperate on an app based hailing system for Taxis/Private 

Hire Vehicles?  

 What can local authorities do to help you develop your own app based system? 

 

9. Public awareness of difference between taxis and private hire 

 

 Do you think that the public should have better awareness of the difference between 

taxis and private hire? If yes, how could local authorities help to achieve this?  

 Would you support a Gloucestershire version of Cabwise adverts that Transport for 

London ran to highlight the risks of unlicensed vehicles? 

(https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8b2eR1E6mJs) 

 

10. Enforcement 

 

 Do you think that licensing Officers should be able to enforce taxis and private hire 

that are from out of District? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8b2eR1E6mJs


ANNEX B 

SURVEY FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

1. How often do you use taxis?  

Once per year or less 

Less than once per 3 months 

Approximately monthly  

Approximately weekly 

 

2. Which area are you responding from? 

Gloucester 

Cheltenham 

Tewkesbury 

Stroud 

Cotswolds 

Forest of dean 

 

3. What other methods of transport do you use as well as/instead of taxis? (Please tick all 

that apply) include an option for other and then an open ended text box, also is walking 

not an option? 

Car 

Buses 

Trains 

Cycling 

Walking 

Other 

 

4. Where are your main areas of travel? (Please tick all that apply)  

Gloucester 

Cheltenham 

Page 43



Tewkesbury 

Stroud 

Cotswolds 

Forest of Dean 

Other (please specify in text box) 

 

5. How important to you are the following considerations for taxi use and regulation?  

 

Affordability                         Very Important/Not important at all 

Accessibility                          Very Important/Not important at all 

Environmental Impact      Very Important/Not important at all 

 

6. How would you rate your experiences of taxi services overall if you have used them?  

Very good – Not good at all 

 

7. Do you know how to report concerns or make complaints about a taxi service? Yes/No 

 

8. Have you ever reported concerns or poor service when using taxis?  

Yes/No 

 

9. Please tell us about your experiences of reporting 

 

10. Do you think installing CCTV in taxis is a good idea?    

Yes/ No/Not sure 

 

11. Please tell us why 

 

12. Would you like to give any further feedback? 

 

Page 44



Gloucestershire Joint Economic Scrutiny Committee
20th January 2021

Report: Governance of GFirst LEP
 
Presented by: David Owen, Chief Executive, GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership

The LEP is recognised by Government (in annual performance reviews) as having good governance 
that goes beyond compliance and demonstrates a commitment to a culture of accountable and 
transparent governance and scrutiny.

The local Assurance Framework outlines the Governance arrangements for Gloucestershire’s Growth 
Deal, including the roles and responsibilities of the LEP Board, as well as the roles and responsibilities 
of other Boards/decision making forums

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/assurance-framework---v8-.pdf 
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2019/assurance-framework-annexes-20-6-19.pdf

For the full details on Governance see section one of the Assurance framework

The LEP Board and staff are committed to adhere to the Seven Principals of Public Life (The Nolan 
Principles) and sign up to the GFirst Code of Conduct 

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/96-gfirst_lep_-
_code_of_conduct_for_lep_board_members_(jan_18).pdf

There are clear and transparent structures and processes in place to ensure decisions are 
evidence based. The LEP Board is responsible for strategic decision making. It has a 
diverse membership, with a strong business voice, with at least 2/3 of the Board from the 
private sector, ensuring that there is active private sector challenge and engagement 
throughout the decision-making process. The remaining Directors represent the public 
sector, including local government, further education and higher education and the 
voluntary, community, environmental and social enterprise sectors. At least one Director 
is appointed by Gloucestershire County Council. There is a designated SME Champion 
Board Member, drawn from the private sector, and Board Champions for ‘risk’ and 
‘diversity’.
The GFirst LEP Board is ultimately responsible to Government for ensuring that all aspects 
of the Growth Deal are delivered. The Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee 
provides democratic accountability for those investments made through the Growth Deal, 
supported by this committee (Scrutiny). Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) acts as 
Accountable Body for all Growth Deal funding.
There is effective and close liaison between the LEP, the Accountable Body and the 
Section 151 officer.

The LEP decision making process has been reviewed by this committee in recent 
meetings. The full details are available in the Assurance Framework (1.4)

Page 45

Agenda Item 10

https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2020/assurance-framework---v8-.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/2019/assurance-framework-annexes-20-6-19.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/96-gfirst_lep_-_code_of_conduct_for_lep_board_members_(jan_18).pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/96-gfirst_lep_-_code_of_conduct_for_lep_board_members_(jan_18).pdf


All Board decisions are recorded in the minutes of Board meetings which are published on the GFirst 
Website. The ‘Governance’ section provides a comprehensive list of relevant documents. 
https://www.gfirstlep.com/lep-governance/

Funding processes are supported by the LEP investment panel of independent businesses, 
and the Programme Management Group. The private sector voice is also heard through 
the Business Groups, which in turn influences the Board.

There is collaboration and engagement with external stakeholders with the LEP showing confidence, 
inspiration and influence. As well as representation on the Board, and through the work of the Joint 
Committee, the public sector, including skills organisations, have opportunities to influence and 
inform the decision making. Outside of formal structures the LEP Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
executive meet regularly with both elected and non-elected representatives. 

The LEP takes an active role in influencing strategic planning and decision making across a wider 
area, both regionally and Nationally. This includes involvement at Government level, and in the 
Western Gateway.

Succession planning is manged effectively, new Board members have a thorough induction so they 
are able to make a strong contribution from the start.

This paper is for information only

Page 46

https://www.gfirstlep.com/lep-governance/


Director’s Report, Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Scrutiny Committee Report

January 2021

This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, 
including updates on areas previously reported.  

1.0 Decisions

1.1      Relevant forthcoming decisions, by date due:
 Gloucestershire Economic Recovery 2021-24 (27 January by Cabinet)
 Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP) 2020-2041(27 January by Cabinet)
 A435 Bishops Cleeve to Cheltenham Capacity Improvements – Contract Procurement 

(Between 12 January 2021 and 2 February 2021)
 The proposed adoption of the ULEV (Ultra Low Emissions Vehicles) Strategy and the 

procurement and installation of Electric Vehicle Chargers across Gloucestershire. 
(January 2021 – Lead Cabinet Member)

 B4063 GLOUCESTER TO CHELTENHAM CYCLE IMPROVEMENTS – Contract 
Procurement and Ancillary Orders (Between 1 March 2021 and 29 March 2021)

 Proposed adoption of the Gloucestershire Local Development Guide 2020 (24 March 
2021 by Cabinet)

1.2 Pending Items not yet published on the Forward Plan:
 Review of GCC Fleet Management
 ITU Bus Contract Procurement
 Public Transport Strategy

2.0 Highways 

2.1 COVID19 Response
 Preparations continue to ensure resilience in operations and winter/emergency 

response being maintained over the coming months.  Working closely with partner 
organisations.  Additional work around business continuity in this area continues to 
consider actions in the event of multiple scenarios such as high sickness levels 
combined with snow or flood event. 

2.2 M5 Junction 10 
 OBC submitted to MHCLG on 21st March 2019;
 Additional GCC revenue secured to progress this project throughout 2020/21;
 Positive decision made in March 2020 stating that our bid has been successful;
 Urgent work is continuing to progress the scheme, noting concerns re- COVID19 and 

the associated delays to the original planned timescales due to the ‘late’ Government 
announcement;

 Lead Cabinet Members are being updated on a monthly basis;
 The funding shortfall was subject to an approved Cabinet report on 17th June 2020;
 Authority to use CPO powers if necessary approved by Cabinet 22nd July 2020. 
 The GDA is now signed; maximum sum value of £249M

Page 47

Agenda Item 11

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37085&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=36805&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37008&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34751&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=34751&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37083&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=37083&Opt=0
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=32801&Opt=0


 Non-statutory public consultation ran from 14th October – 25th November.  Good 
response to the consultation has been received and the results will form part of the 
wider work to feed into the Preferred Route Announcement in Spring 2021.

 Land agents appointed to progress land acquisition and negotiations in partnership 
with GCC Property.  

 Claims 1 & 2 have been made and include circa £4M of ‘historic claim’ claw back.

2.3 Highways Contracts
 Term maintenance/Professional Services - Resources operating with some limited 

impact from COVID19.  Annual programme of footway surfacing and surface dressing 
now complete.  Patching in advance of next year’s surface dressing currently 
underway.  Performance on cyclical maintenance and defect repair remains above 
target.  Ability to work collaboratively with all teams remote is challenging.

 Structural maintenance - delivery now ahead of schedule for 20/21 following concerted 
efforts to recover time lost due to COVID19 impacts.  The website shows the current 
schedule plus the interactive map for 20/21 works.  Now moving towards the final year 
(21/22) of the additional investment period.

 Street lighting – delivery is largely business as usual.    Skanska sale to M Group now 
confirmed - will likely mean a novation of the street lighting contract – more detail to 
follow as it becomes available.

 Highways Skills Academy – work continues to support apprenticeships across 
Gloucestershire Highways with those already in place (over 15).  The team are now 
also developing work on the possibility of delivering traineeships through the Skills 
Academy. Despite the difficulties in recruiting and training of new staff under pandemic 
restrictions the Skills Academy has managed to achieve its target of bringing eight 
more new apprentices into the business across GCC, Ringway and Atkins.

2.4 Highways Delivery
 Winter readiness – winter treatments have begun with a handful of gritting runs carried 

out during November and December.  Contingency arrangements in place to ensure 
resilience for this service if impacted by COVID19, including exploration of mutual aid 
arrangements with neighbouring authorities and contracts.

 Depots/property – 20/21 funding from MTFS for land acquisition for replacement 
depot, additional MTFS bid for works to Cirencester Depot where structural failure of 
outer building has occurred.  Likely to be delayed because of response to COVID19.

 Ash die back programme – works proceeding well to fully utilise the £0.5m funding on 
addressing ash die back in 20/21.  Significant tree removal works now being 
undertaken in target areas, and work progressing on the parallel works for 
replacement trees which will be aligned with the wider Council strategy for tree 
planting.  Plans being made to enable the proactive work on removing diseased ash 
trees to continue in 21/22.

2.5 A419 Junction Improvements (Stonehouse)
 Works are substantially complete with the exception of some planting works.  We 

continue to review the scheme with local stakeholders alongside the post works 
evaluation that we undertake for all major projects.  

Page 48



2.6 A38 Canal Bridges, Whitminster
 Works are largely complete.  This includes the completion of landslip works at 

Northleach on the old A40 where the removed spoil material from the canal project has 
been able to be utilised to stabilise the embankment supporting the road.  This has 
been a positive benefit both financially and from a carbon footprint perspective, 
reducing the need to transport material over long distances.

     Following completion of the roundabout works, further works to connect the canal 
either side will be progressed.

     Cotswold Canal Trust and Stroud District Council successful in lottery bid for £8.9m, 
4.5 miles of canal, (opening Thrupp through to Sharpness canal at Saul Junction).  
The funding also includes the creation of 21 hectares of biodiversity land, planting 
30,000 trees and shrubs, generating additional spending of £5.5 million per year in the 
local economy, bringing health benefits estimated at £8 million a year, preserving the 
canal archives from the 1730s and involving up to 500 extra volunteers. GCC are a 
partner in its delivery.

2.7 West Cheltenham / Cyber £22M
 Following December 2018 Cabinet approval, Outline Business Cases for all phases of 

the scheme have been drawn up; business Cases for Phases 1 & 2 were submitted, 
presented and agreed at the LEP Board on 10th December 2019; business Cases for 
Phases 3 & 4 were submitted, presented and agreed at the LEP Board on 9th June 
2020.

 Work started on site for Phases 1 and 2 in June 2020 and works are currently on 
schedule to be completed by Summer 2021.

 The Phase 3 and 4 Design and Build contract is progressing well with design due to be 
complete imminently, construction is anticipated to start in early 2021 and be complete 
by the end of 2021.

 Highways England’s safety critical works at Staverton Bridge and M5 Junction 11 
works have now commenced with Arle Court forming part of the M5 J11 diversion 
route, whilst this has resulted in an increase in stakeholder contact there has been no 
impact on the Phase 1 & 2 works programme.

2.8 Ashchurch Bridge over Rail (Delivery for Tewkesbury Borough Council)
     Planning permission for the bridge has been submitted. It is anticipated this will go on 

the agenda for the January planning Committee.
     Works continue with Tewkesbury Borough Council and Network Rail to understand the 

complexities of the legal agreements required for the construction phase.
     Detailed design continues (Atkins).

3.0 Community & Infrastructure 

3.1 DfT Emergency Active Travel Fund 
 EATF Tranche 1 (London Road cycle route): Detailed design underway for 140m of 

cycle lane between Tesco and Great Western Road, for construction early 2021. 

Page 49



 In November 2020 £864k was secured from an EATF Tranche 2 bid from the 
Department for Transport, which will part fund a section of the B4063 Chelt-Glos cycle 
route.

 Consultation plan summary for the B4063 Chelt-Glos cycle route has been submitted 
to DfT and published on the council’s website together with evidence of how the 
scheme will comply with the government’s new guidance on cycle infrastructure 
standards (LTN 1/20).

3.2 ITU Public and School Transport
 New national rules mandating the wearing of masks on school buses have been 

introduced smoothly and have been appreciated by schools, parents and bus 
operators.

3.3 E-scooters
 Continued excellent uptake. Total distance travelled now 47,748 kilometres, equivalent 

to riding 1.25 times around the world.
 Reduction in anti-social behaviour: while some anti-social behaviour has occurred, it 

has reduced in frequency and severity. 
 Positive press coverage about PCSO using a Zwings e-scooter to apprehend an 

offender.
 Excellent uptake of free rides for NHS workers - over 150 key workers made free 

rides.
 Excellent COVID-19 response with vehicles fully sanitised on a daily basis.

3.4 School Streets
 Positive early feedback from parents and children about the School Streets pilots in 

Tewkesbury and in Warden Hill (Cheltenham). These are being managed and 
monitored by a project team from ThinkTravel, Highways, Parking and the Police. A 
decision on further school streets pilots will be taken in summer 2021, to allow us to 
apply lessons learned from the first phase.

3.5 Sustainability
 In December Cabinet agreed the council’s first annual report on progress delivering 

the council’s Climate Change Strategy. This includes updates to the rolling 5 year 
programme.

 £222k of bids submitted to the government’s Low Carbon Skills Fund to help identify 
ways of reducing carbon emissions from the council property assets and inform future 
bids for the decarbonisation of heat.

3.6 Highways Development Management
 Four new members of staff join in January and February: the HDM Manager, two 

Principal Development Coordinators and one Principal Development Engineer.

Page 50



4.0 Strategic Infrastructure

4.1 B4063 / A40 Highways England Cycling Scheme – Cheltenham to Gloucester
This project will need to link into the under construction GCC £22M transport 
improvement scheme to the west of Cheltenham. The original HE scheme, in order to 
fulfil funding criteria, needed to be completed by March 2020. This, however, was 
subsequently extended to construction starting in 2021, as part of the RIS2 process. 
Given the limited progress to date, the original date was increasingly impossible to 
adhere to.  GCC officers continue to engage with HE’s Route Manager to attempt to 
ensure everything is ‘joined up’. GCC officers have decided to take over the detailed 
design of this project, given the HE delays with the design fully underway and expected 
to be complete in Spring 2021. This will have the key advantage of directly linking the 
project to the emerging £22M West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme 
(WCTIS) providing a continuous link between Gloucester and Cheltenham Station once 
complete and include the recently successfully delivered Emergency Active Travel 
Scheme on London Road in Gloucester. A bid was recently submitted to the GFirst LEP 
for £5M towards this scheme. Despite scoring well, the scheme was not shortlisted by 
the LEP for funding. The GFirst LEP Board, in December 2020 agreed that any future 
underspend on the £22M WCTIS would be ringfenced to the B4063 cycle scheme.
 

4.2 M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch)
 The Strategic Outline Business Case for the M5 J9 / A46 scheme was submitted to the 

DfT in January 2020;
 Positive Government announcement in March 2020, stating that the scheme should 

progress to the next stage;
 This is to progress to the Outline Business Case – the cost of which is likely to be 

£2M-£3M – part of the funding will come from the approved £4M GCC funding for 
‘business case development’ in 2020/21;

 Discussions re- possible future funding ongoing with both Homes England and 
Tewkesbury BC due to the links to the ‘garden town’. 

4.3 Improved rail connectivity
 Rail Strategy published March 2020;
 This will now feed into the emerging review of the Local Transport Plan (LTP), which 

has recently been subject to a public consultation – the results of which have now 
been analysed and the LTP is scheduled to be considered at Cabinet in January 2021.

4.4 Digital connectivity
 Cabinet considered and approved the latest, revised Fastershire Broadband Strategy 

2019-2022 in December 2019;
 This is now being implemented, with a view to securing solutions for ‘the final 3%’. 

4.5 A417 Missing Link
 Preferred Route Announcement (Route 30) made March 2019;
 Further public consultation took place in Autumn 2019;

Page 51



 A supportive officer-level response to this consultation (a joint response from CDC, 
TBC and GCC) was sent on 8th November 2019;

 Positive announcement in March 2020 stating that the scheme has secured funding 
and should progress to DCO later this year;

 Various issues, including National Trust (NT) withdrawing their support for some 
aspects of the scheme, have resulted in a need for the scheme to be redesigned. This 
will lead to a delay of 8-12 months to the scheme’s timetable. The Leader has taken 
this up with NT. 

 The revised proposals were subject to a recent public consultation, which started on 
12th October 2020. A detailed officer response was sent, meeting the external deadline 
of 12th November 2020. 

4.6 GSWB / Llanthony Road
 Planning permission granted April 2019;
 Ongoing negotiations with landowners / landlords re- 14 plots; contract now agreed 

with City Business Centre, work progressing well in relocation for businesses within 
this site

 Planning application in with GCC for change if use (part of City Business Centre to 
become car park for displaced parking)

 The ‘virtual’ CPO Public Inquiry took place on 24th November 2020 – 2 objectors 
remain. Neither of which were represented at the Inquiry.

4.7 Local Transport Plan (LTP)
 Adopted in 2016;
 Currently being reviewed, with a view to adopting the revised Plan in early 2021;
 Draft LTP (pre- public consultation) agreed at 20th December 2019 Cabinet;
 Public consultation took place 16th January – 26th March 2020;
 The results of the public consultation have been analysed;
 GCC Cabinet will consider the final revised LTP in January 2021, before proposed 

adoption at Full Council in March 2021.

4.8 Minerals Local Plan
 The Plan has now been adopted. 

4.9 Chepstow Transport Improvements
 Consultant’s report outlined scheme options;
 Monmouthshire CC keen to progress the Business Case;
 GCC Lead Cabinet Members supported a GCC financial contribution of £20K 

(2020/21) towards Stage 2 of the Chepstow Transport Study.  

4.10 Cinderford 
 FoDDC yet to secure planning permission and funding for proposed extension of 

phase one of the road;
 FoDDC aiming to apply to themselves (via a Section 73 amendment) to vary the 

existing planning permission later in 2020/21;
 Until planning and funding is in place, no further action for GCC. 

Page 52



4.11 Local Plans / JCS / CIL
 Review of JCS now underway following an ‘Issues and Options’ consultation which 

ended in January 2019;
 GCC’s signing of the JCS Partnership Agreement has now been paused and it 

currently depends on the outcome of the JCS CIL review (see below);
 There was agreement with JCS officers in October 2019 that there should be an 

immediate review of the JCS CIL. GCC had agreed to financially contribute £25K 
towards this and the review was progressing. In Spring 2020, JCS officers informed 
GCC that this CIL review will be paused due to (i) COVID-19 and (ii) lack of secured 
funding from the District Councils;

 GCC education and library contributions continue to be challenged and ‘declined’ by 
some District Councils and developers. We have now failed to secure several millions 
of pounds worth of essential infrastructure;

 To date GCC has not received any monies generated through CIL from any of the JCS 
authorities;

 That said, negotiations continue with some positive progress made and Lead Cabinet 
Members have been updated;

 Stroud Local Plan – Consultation on Draft Local Plan – closed 22nd January 2020. 
Significant officer-level concerns submitted to SDC – especially transport issues re- 
the significant proposed development at Sharpness. Another SDC consultation took 
place with additional possible housing sites, which was responded to in December 
2020.

 Cotswold Local Plan – Adopted in August 2018;
 Forest of Dean Local Plan – Issues and Options consultation ended on 31st October 

2019. FoDDC are currently consulting on a ‘preferred option’ – the closing date for 
comments is 29th January 2021. GCC officers will comment before this deadline. 

5.0 Libraries & Registration

5.1 Libraries
 Libraries continue to adjust the services offered inline with national COVID-19 

restrictions. Agreement has been received to roll out the Innovation Lab concept to the 
6 districts.  Work will begin on this project in the New Year.

5.2 Registration 
 The backlog of birth registrations is now under 300.  The team have made significant 

progress on the huge backlog and we are now reverting all offices back to mixed 
appointment availability.  Registration services continue to adjust their provision in line 
with national COVID 19 restrictions and changes in demand.

6.0 Waste Management 

 Household Recycling Centres (HRCs) will remain open during the latest national 
lockdown (announced on 4th January 2021), with social distancing facilitated through 

Page 53



an online appointment booking system. Waiting times for an appointment to visit a 
HRC remain low. Waiting times have reduced at Pyke Quarry since the last update:

Site Waiting time 2nd Dec  Waiting time 16th Dec
Fosse Cross 1 day  1 day
Hempsted 5 days  5 days
Oak Quarry 1 day  1 day
Pyke Quarry 13 days  9 days (excludes Christmas 

Day and Boxing Day closure)
Wingmoor 1 day  1 day

 General and clinical waste management arrangements for the COVID-19 mass testing 
pilot at the RAU, Cirencester have been paused following the recent announcement 
that the majority of university students will not return to colleges until at least mid-
February. Support for the Gloucester testing site is being arranged, effective from 13th 
January. 

7.0 Employment and Skills 

7.1 Adult Education Service
 AES’s contribution to the local skills support for economic recovery has been 

completed and has been shared with the GAB and stakeholders in October. This 
should help raise the profile of GCC Adult Education and also stimulate further 
discussion and provision with District Councils, community groups, etc. and help with 
further collaboration over the use of Adult Education Budget (AEB) with local colleges. 

 Since the implementation of the new staffing structure (commenced 1st September), 
good progress is being made with staff being embedded into new roles. The transition 
from old to new is progressing very well despite COVID-19 related challenges. An 
internal full review of our current processes and procedures is underway to enable the 
Service to continue making improvements (streamlining, efficiency gains and cost 
savings).

 Online learning remains in place for community learning, skills and apprenticeship 
provision. It is likely that longer-term the Service will retain more of a blended learning 
approach combining online and face-to-face learning, although this remains 
challenging with Community learning.

 Performance 1st Quarter (Learner enrolments, Income from ESFA, Exam passes, 
Retention Rates, etc.) remain strong in most areas despite Covid-19 related 
challenges.

 Sarah Carne, the new Head of Adult Education started work on the 4th January.

- REPORT END - 

Page 54


	Agenda
	4 Work Plan
	7 Social Mobility
	8 Local housing
	9 Taxi Licensing Task Group report
	10 Governance of the LEP
	11 Executive Director's Report

